797

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE

MAY 10 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

CYPRESS ENERGY PARTNERS, LIMITED PARTNERSHIP,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 81,131

J. TERRY DEASON, ETC., ET AL.,

Appellees,

and NASSAU POWER CORPORATION,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 81,496

J. TERRY DEASON, ETC., ET AL.,

ON APPEAL FROM THE FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION DOCKET NOS. 920520-EQ, 920769-EQ, 920783-EQ, 920761-EQ and 920762-EQ

CONSOLIDATED BRIEF OF NASSAU POWER CORPORATION

ANSWER BRIEF TO THE INITIAL BRIEF OF CYPRESS ENERGY IN CASE NO. 81,131

INITIAL BRIEF IN CASE NO. 81,496

CROSS-APPELLANT'S BRIEF IN CASE NO. 81,131

Joseph A. McGlothlin Fla. Bar No. 163771

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Throughout this brief, the following designations will be used. The Florida Public Service Commission will be referred to as "the Commission." Florida Power and Light Company will be "FPL." Cypress Energy Partners, Limited Partnership, will be shortened to "Cypress," and Nassau Power Corporation to "Nassau Power." The Department of Environmental Regulation will be referred to as "DER." The joint venture of ARK Energy, Inc. and CSW Development-I, Inc. will be called ARK.

The transcript of the final hearing will be designated (Tr.). The transcript of the October 22, 1992 Agenda Conference will be designated (AT.). The record is referred to as (R.) and the appendix to the brief is (A.).

Nassau Power will provide a Statement of the Case and of the Facts in its brief. The statement is needed for two reasons. First, following the filing of Cypress' initial brief in Case No. 81,131, the Court granted Nassau Power's motion to consolidate that case with Nassau Power's appeal of Florida Public Service Commission Order No. PSC-92-1210-FOF-EQ (R. 3755; A. 1) in Case No. 81,496. Appropriate references to the case in which Nassau Power's own petition to determine need was dismissed are necessary to convey to the Court the full context of the proceedings below.

In addition, Cypress' statement is argumentative. For instance, Cypress claims that its factual statement is "taken generally from the PSC's orders of November 23 and December 28,

1992," but its statement that FPL picked the Cypress project after "... [a] comparative evaluation of all available alternatives" (Cypress' Initial Brief, p. 2) is at odds with the Commission's findings. Further, Cypress' repeated characterizations of its competitors' projects as "hypothetical" and "immature" derive, not from the orders on appeal, but from partisan advocacy.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

The Florida Electrical Power Plant Siting Act (Siting Act) requires an entity that desires to construct and operate a power plant covered by the Siting Act to first obtain a certification order from the Governor and Cabinet, who compose the Siting Board. As a condition precedent to the hearing on a request for site certification, the applicant must receive a favorable "determination of need" from the Commission.

On May 22, 1992, Cypress and FPL jointly filed with the Commission a petition to determine need. (R. 1). The petition was a proposal to satisfy the need for 800-900 megawatts (MW) of additional generating capacity which FPL said its system would require to reliably meet its customers' requirements in the 1998-1999 time frame. Cypress proposed to construct two coal-fired power plants near Lake Okeechobee, Florida and to sell the output to FPL on a wholesale basis under the terms of a proposed contract which the joint petitioners had negotiated.

Nassau Power and ARK intervened in Cypress' proceeding to present their respective natural gas-fired power generation projects as alternatives to the proposed Cypress coal-fired units. (R. 304, 389). Nassau Power and ARK offered to contract with FPL on terms and conditions that largely mirrored the proposed FPL/Cypress contract, but that included significantly lower prices for electricity.

DER also intervened in the proceeding. (R. 482). DER asked the Commission to determine FPL's need for capacity and forward all of the proposals proffered to fill FPL's need to the DER for further consideration.¹

In addition to intervening in the Cypress need determination docket, Nassau Power and ARK filed separate petitions to determine need for their gas-fired projects. Each sought a determination by the Commission that its project should be selected to fill FPL's next need for capacity. (R. 2666, 3297).

By motions, Nassau Power and ARK asked the Commission to consolidate the three "need petition" dockets, to utilize the existing hearing dates to take evidence on the issue of the need for capacity, and to conduct a subsequent comparative review of the three proposals that were vying to meet FPL's need. (R. 537, 679, 2656, 3643). The Commission denied consolidation (R. 694), thereby

Several other parties, such as Florida Gas Transmission and Springs Power Partners, L.P., intervened but later withdrew. Additional Intervenors included the City of Okeechobee, J. Makowski (an independent power project developer), and the Legal Environmental Assistance Foundation (LEAF).

limiting the status of Nassau Power and ARK to that of Intervenors in the docket on Cypress' petition.

Shortly afterwards, FPL moved to dismiss the separate petitions to determine need of Nassau Power and ARK. (R. 2866, 3669). DER filed a notice of intervention in the ARK and Nassau Power dockets. (R. 2965, 3749). In its notice, DER advocated the broad and inclusive interpretation of "applicant" which the Siting Board had taken in a previous case. DER urged the Commission to avoid any action which would interfere with the Siting Board's jurisdiction.

Acting on FPL's motion to dismiss, the Commission dismissed the petitions to determine need filed by Nassau Power and ARK² on the grounds that only utilities, or entities with whom utilities have executed a power purchase contract, satisfy the definitional requirements of the Siting Act. (R. 2971, 3755). Nassau Power filed a motion for reconsideration of the order of dismissal, which the Commission denied in Order No. PSC-93-0338-FOF-EQ on March 4, 1993. (R. 3777; A. 7). Nassau Power appealed. (R. 3781).

In the Cypress case, the Commission held an evidentiary hearing in August of 1992. Intervenors Nassau Power and ARK presented evidence of their site-specific alternatives to the coalfired plant proposed by Cypress. They proposed contract prices which were lower than the Cypress price by \$266 million and \$302

The Commission also dismissed the separate petitions for contract approval filed by Nassau Power (R. 3795) and ARK. (R. 3025).

million, respectively (net present value of contract payments). Unlike Cypress and ARK, who included no cogeneration, Nassau Power proposed a 435 MW cogeneration unit that would be a Qualifying Facility under the federal Public Utility Regulatory Policies Act as an integral part of its project.

Following the hearing and the submission of briefs by parties, the Commission Staff forwarded a written recommendation to the Commissioners. Staff recommended that the Commission deny Cypress' petition.

On October 16, 1992, four days prior to the Commission's decision conference, Cypress filed a document captioned "CEP's Request to Address the Commission." (R. 2126). Within the faulted the substance ofdocument, Cypress recommendation. Nassau Power and LEAF responded to Cypress' pleading. (R. 2131, 2141). During the decision conference of October 20, 1992, the Commission denied Cypress' request to participate and excluded the post-recommendation pleadings from its deliberations.

In its decision, the Commission affirmatively determined that FPL needs 800-900 MW of additional generating capacity in 1998-1999 to maintain the reliability of its system. Based on its assessment of the evidence of available alternatives, the Commission rejected the coal-fired plant jointly proposed by Cypress and FPL. The Commission ruled that the position of Intervenors Nassau Power and ARK was no different than that of any other potential supplier. It refused to require FPL to negotiate with either of the Intervenors

who had presented evidence of specific alternatives. The Commission directed FPL to use a "fair and open selection procedure which results in closure" to fill its need. (R. 2412).

Cypress, FPL, LEAF, and Nassau Power filed motions seeking reconsideration of the Commission's order. (R. 2145, 2187, 2324, 2453). In its motion, Cypress pointed out that one exhibit to which the Commission referred in its order contained numerical errors and complained that an inaccurate, extra-record price of gas had been communicated to the Commissioners by the Staff during the decision conference. In its order on reconsideration, the Commission acknowledged the errors but stated that they did not affect the outcome of the case. The Commission denied all of the motions for reconsideration in Order No. PSC-92-1493-FOF-EQ. (R. 2536).

Cypress filed a notice of appeal in Case No. 81,131 on

January 21, 1993. (R. 2546). ARK filed a notice of cross-appeal
on January 27, 1993 (R. 2616) and LEAF filed a notice of crossappeal on January 29, 1993. (R. 2622). Nassau Power filed a
notice of cross-appeal in Case No. 81,131 on February 4, 1993 (R.
2627) and a notice of appeal in Case No. 81,496 on March 26, 1993.
(R. 3781). Nassau Power filed a motion to consolidate Case Nos.
81,131 and 81,496 on April 5, 1993. The Court granted the motion
on April 19, 1993.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A. ANSWER TO CYPRESS' BRIEF

The Commission's post-hearing procedures did not violate Cypress' right to due process. Cypress mistakenly contends that this Court has never before reviewed the Commission's practice of including Staff in decision conferences. In South Florida Natural Gas Company v. Public Service Commission, 534 So.2d 695 (Fla. 1988), this Court ruled that due process was not violated when the Commission Staff who had cross-examined witnesses during the evidentiary phase of the case later participated in the Commission's assessment of the evidence. This case, which was not cited by Cypress, is dispositive of Cypress' chief procedural complaint.

Cypress is wrong when it says the Commission violated its own rule on the same subject. The Staff's participation at the decision conference did not violate Commission Rule 25-22.057(5), Florida Administrative Code, because that rule expressly does not apply to a proceeding in which Commissioners preside over the evidentiary hearing, as was the case here.

Given the extensive evidentiary record in this case (including the evidence of Nassau Power's alternative gas-fired Okeechobee proposal), the Commission's explicit evaluation of the impact of the matters complained of on reconsideration, and in light of case law governing the effect of evidentiary errors, the evidentiary miscues identified by Cypress were mere harmless error.

The Commission properly rejected the two large pulverized coal plants which Cypress proposed to build near Lake Okeechobee. The record demonstrates that far more desirable and cost-effective alternatives are available. Nassau Power's proposed gas-fired Okeechobee project would save ratepayers \$266 million. Nor did the Commission prejudice Cypress by an undue emphasis on the cost of the project to ratepayers relative to the cost of other alternatives. The record is replete with evidence of other advantages of alternatives—including Nassau Power's use of cogeneration, superior thermal efficiency, and environmental benefits—which underscores the conclusion that the Cypress project would have been a poor choice for the State of Florida.

The Commission's finding that FPL's next generating unit should utilize a technology other than the one proposed by Cypress was a case-specific adjudication based on evidence, not "de facto rulemaking." Nor did the Commission engage in rulemaking when it called on FPL to take steps in its capacity procurement method that would, in the Commission's view, enhance the likelihood of achieving finality in the adjudicatory process. However, for reasons stated below, Nassau Power believes the desired "closure" should be achieved by very different means.

B. NASSAU POWER'S APPEAL OF THE DISMISSAL OF ITS PETITION TO DETERMINE NEED IN DOCKET NO. 920769-EQ AND NASSAU POWER'S CROSS-APPEAL

Limiting the Siting Act's definition of "applicants" to utilities or their designees would frustrate legislative intent,

usurp the function of the Siting Board, stifle developing competition, and lead to absurd and unworkable results. In 1984, the Siting Board expressly ruled that a cogenerator that had no contract with a utility was a proper applicant for an order of certification under the definitions of the Siting Act. That interpretation is consistent with the principle, applicable here, that a generally worded statute, prospective in nature, will be construed to apply to new conditions, things, and entities that were unknown or not contemplated when the law was passed if they come within the purpose and scope of the statute.

The absurdity of the Commission's conflicting, restrictive interpretation lies in the proposition that a cogenerator, other independent provider, or (by implication) industrial self-user cannot construct or operate a power plant without certification by the Siting Board, but is prohibited by the same Siting Act that imposes that requirement from applying for certification.

That the Commission's definition is unworkable is illustrated by the Cypress decision. The Commission has restricted <u>itself</u> to approving or disapproving the single project which the <u>utility</u> puts forward in a need case initiated by petition. What if, following a disapproval, a non-utility generator--whether excluded from consideration or unselected--proves that the utility has made a poor choice in its second attempt? Or the third? The dilemma would be avoided, and ratepayers' interests would be served, if the Commission's selection was based on a comparative review of coequal alternatives, competing to meet a specified need. To make

sense of the Siting Act, the Court should give effect to the Siting Board's earlier construction of the statutory framework for which it has primary authority. In doing so, the Court will also remove the bottleneck in the process that is preventing Florida's ratepayers from receiving the full benefits of the competition in the power generation industry created by federal law.

Federal law places an obligation on utilities to purchase capacity and energy from cogenerators who meet prescribed standards of efficiency. Florida law requires the Commission to encourage cogeneration in determination of need cases. Alone among the potential providers (including Cypress) who presented proposals to meet the need for capacity identified by FPL and determined by the Commission, Nassau Power offered to provide a portion of the needed capacity through cogeneration. Nassau Power's 435 MW unit would be a Qualifying Facility under the Public Utility Regulatory Policies Act and implementing rules of the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission. In the Cypress order, the Commission acknowledged that cogeneration is entitled to preferential treatment vis-à-vis non-QF alternatives. It erred in its conflicting conclusion that Nassau Power has no greater claim to a contract with FPL than any other potential provider. It should have directed FPL to come to terms with Nassau Power.

The Commission's order dismissing Nassau Power's petition to determine need must be reversed. The Court should also affirm the Commission's denial of the Cypress project. In Cypress' wake, Nassau Power's rights as a legitimate petitioner and as a QF who

timely appeared to meet the need for capacity identified by the Commission should be enforced. If, however, the Court reverses the Commission's denial of Cypress for any reason and directs the Commission to consider Cypress' petition further, Nassau Power is entitled to have its petition compared to the Cypress petition in any remand.

ARGUMENT

I. THE COMMISSION'S DECISION-MAKING PROCESS DID NOT VIOLATE CYPRESS' RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS OF LAW.

To show a basis for overturning the Commission's denial of the Cypress petition, Cypress must demonstrate that the Commission departed from the essential requirements of law or that its order is not supported by substantial, competent evidence of record. Section 120.68(10), Florida Statutes; State v. Hawkins, 364 So.2d 723, 727 (Fla. 1978). In its review of the Commission's order, the Court will not reweigh the evidence or substitute its judgment for the Commission's as to the effect of the evidence. Gulf Power Company v. Florida Public Service Commission, 453 So.2d 799, 803 (Fla. 1984).

Cypress' due process arguments fail. Cypress' assertion that the Court has never reviewed the Commission's post-hearing procedure is mistaken. In its brief, Cypress mischaracterizes the role of the Commission Staff and attempts to invoke an Agenda Conference rule that by its express terms does not apply to a case

in which Commissioners preside over a hearing, as happened in this case.

A. This Court has already rejected contentions analogous to Cypress' complaint regarding the role of the Staff attorney.

Much of Cypress' brief is devoted to assailing the practice of allowing the Staff who cross-examined witnesses to participate in the Commission's Agenda Conference. Contrary to Cypress' claim, this is not a new issue.

In <u>South Florida Natural Gas Company v. Public Service</u>

<u>Commission</u>, 534 So.2d 695 (Fla. 1988), South Florida Natural Gas

filed a petition seeking a rate increase. In the course of the

rate case, it filed detailed financial information as well as the

prefiled testimony of a company official and an outside expert.

During the hearing, these company witnesses were cross-examined by

the Commission Staff. The Commission ultimately rejected the

requested increase.

South Florida Natural Gas appealed the Commission's order. On appeal, it argued, among other things, that its due process rights had been violated because information obtained as a result of cross-examination had been treated as substantive evidence and because Commission Staff who had cross-examined witnesses at the hearing had assisted the Commissioners in the evaluation of the evidence—the very same claims Cypress makes here. In South Florida Natural Gas this Court held:

We reject the utility's contention that it was deprived of due process of law because

the commission allowed its staff to make inquiry of utility witnesses and assist in evaluating the evidence. . . .

We find that the commission is <u>clearly</u> authorized to utilize its staff to test the <u>validity</u>, <u>credibility</u>, and <u>competence of the evidence</u> presented in support of an increase. Without its staff, it would be impossible for the commission to "investigate and determine the actual legitimate costs of the property of each utility company, actually used and useful in the public service."

Id. at 698, citation omitted, emphasis supplied.

As in <u>South Florida Natural Gas</u>, the Commission in this case was required to review a highly technical record and make statutorily required findings. Section 403.519, Florida Statutes. Its use of its Staff was analogous to the practice approved by the Court in <u>South Florida Natural Gas</u>. Nassau Power submits that case is dispositive of Cypress' argument.

The cases on which Cypress attempts to rely are inapposite. Both Forehand v. School Board of Gulf County, 600 So.2d 1187 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992) and McIntyre v. Tucker, 490 So.2d 659 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986), are lower court cases involving local school board disciplinary actions of public school teachers. In McIntyre, the teacher was terminated; in Forehand, the teacher was suspended without pay. Both cases involve the employee's property right in the position at issue. No such property right is at issue here. Cypress did not have a determination of need which the Commission was trying to revoke: it sought to obtain a determination of need from the Commission. In order to evaluate whether Cypress was

entitled to a determination of need, the Commission was permitted to utilize its Staff.

Cypress contends that the Staff's participation violated former Rule 25-22.057(5), which governed participation during Agenda Conferences in particular instances. That rule was expressly limited to cases in which the Commission delegates the responsibility for presiding over the evidentiary portion of a proceeding to a hearing officer and then receives a recommended order. It stated:

This rule shall apply to hearings under § 120.57, F.S., except hearings which are held before two or more Commissioners.

Rule 25-22.057(1), Florida Administrative Code, emphasis supplied.³ In its brief, Cypress recites that a panel of Commissioners Deason and Easley presided over the Cypress hearing (Cypress Initial Brief, p. 12), but fails to note that the rule it attempts to invoke was therefore inapplicable to this case.

Rule 25-22.057, Florida Administrative Code, was repealed on March 23, 1993. New rule 25-22.001(2), Florida Administrative Code, provides:

a recommendation is presented When considered in a proceeding where a hearing has been held, no person other than staff who did testify at the hearing and not Commissioners may participate at the agenda Oral presentation by any other conference. person, whether by way of objection, comment or otherwise, is not permitted.

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