IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

| NASSAU POWER CORPORATION, |) | |
|--------------------------------|-----------------|-----|
| v. |) CASE NO. 81,4 | .96 |
| J. TERRY DEASON, ETC., ET AL., |) | |
| Appellees. |) | |
| |) | |

REVISED ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE, FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

ROBERT D. VANDIVER General Counsel Florida Bar No. 344052

DAVID E. SMITH Director of Appeals Florida Bar No. 309011

FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION 101 East Gaines Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0861 (904) 488-7464

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

¹Nassau places undue significance on the fact that one may file an application for site certification at the Department of Environmental Protection before, after, or simultaneously with a petition for certification of need filed at the Commission. Because an affirmative determination of need is a condition precedent to a final certification hearing, recent petitioners (including Nassau) have filed petitions for determination of need before filing an application for site certification.

distribution of electric energy. This definition requires none of the circuitous statutory construction proposed by Nassau. Where, as here, the words of a statute are unambiguous, they must be accorded their plain, ordinary meaning, and the sort of judicial construction and interpretation urged by Nassau is improper. Holly v. Auld, 450 So.2d 217 (Fla. 1984); State v. Eagan, 287 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973); Tropical Coach Line, Inc. v. Carter, 121 So.2d 779 (Fla. 1960). Simply put, Nassau is not a proper applicant because it is not a city, town, county, public utility district, regulated electric company, electric cooperative or joint operating agency.

There are no general terms used in Section 403.503(4) that require elaboration or interpretation. There is no confusion or ambiguity within the statutory language. The only ambiguity is that proposed by Nassau. Nassau argues that the term "applicant", which is so clearly defined in the statute, should be redefined by this Court so that any entity that will generate electricity if it can obtain site certification and construct a plant may apply for a site certification and determination of need.

This argument is specious as well as circular, and effectively nullifies the statutory definition of applicant. Nassau would have this Court ignore the statute's unmistakable requirement that an applicant must both be an enumerated entity and must also be authorized to generate, transmit or distribute electricity. Even the most liberal construction of the definition cannot produce this tortured result.

When it mistakenly urged this Court to apply special rules of statutory construction to the definition of applicant, Nassau neglected one of the most primary of those rules: expressio unius est exclusio alterius. It is black letter law that the enumeration of a group of items is construed as excluding all those not specifically included. Thaver v. State, 335 So.2d 815 (Fla. 1976); Wanda Marine Corp. v. State Department of Revenue, 305 So.2d 65 (Fla. 1st DCA 1974). Even if special statutory construction were permissible, the result urged by Nassau would fail because the legislature's enumeration of the seven types of entities that may apply for certification must be held to exclude all those not expressly mentioned, such as cogenerators and independent power producers. As the Commission pointed out in Order No. PSC-92-1210-FOF-EQ, when it dismissed Nassau's petitions for determination of need and for contract approval, non-utility generators do not share the characteristics of the enumerated applicants because they are not required to serve customers:

> Significantly, each of the entities listed the statutory definition may be under obligated to serve customers. It is this resulting from a duty to customers, which the need determination proceeding is designed to examine. utility generators such as Nassau and Ark have no such need since they are not required to serve customers. The Supreme Court recently upheld this interpretation of the Siting Act. Dismissal of these need determination proceedings is in accord with that definition. See Nassau Power Corporation v. Beard, 601 So.2d 1175 (Fla. 1992).

Order No. PSC-92-1210-FOF-EQ at 3; R. 2973.

Had the legislature wished to include cogenerators or other non-utility generators among the enumerated applicants, it could have done so. Nassau now asks this Court to substitute itself for the legislature and to amend the statute. This Court should decline the invitation to legislate.

B. THE SITING BOARD'S DECISION IN THE <u>FLORIDA CRUSHED STONE</u>
CASE DOES NOT REQUIRE THE COMMISSION TO GRANT APPLICANT
STATUS TO NASSAU POWER BECAUSE THAT CASE DID NOT INVOLVE
THE SAME FACT SITUATION.

Nassau argues that it is entitled to applicant status because of the Siting Board's 1983 refusal to dismiss a cogenerating manufacturer's site certification application after the Commission had determined a need for the plant. Even if the Commission were generally bound by the Siting Board's interpretation, it would not be so bound in this case because the fact situations as well as the relief sought are very different.

In 1982 and 1983, the Commission reviewed a petition for determination of need brought by Florida Crushed Stone, a cement manufacturer. In re: Petition of Florida Crushed Stone for Determination of Need for a Coal-Fired Cogeneration Electrical Power Plant, 83 F.P.S.C. 2:107 (1983). (Order No. 11611). The Commission believed then, as it believes today, that:

[w]hile the Act requires the Commission to determine whether a need exists for the addition of any generating facility of 50 MW or larger, the statute in our opinion, is designed primarily to have the Commission determine whether a need exists for the addition of capacity by a regulated electric utility or by a municipality.

<u>Id</u>. at 107. The Commission made no explicit finding that Florida Crushed Stone was a proper applicant for a determination of need proceeding. However, without discussion of the issue, it stated that "significantly different issues are raised when a private entity, such as FCS, proposes to build a cogeneration facility". Id. at 108.

The Commission found that Florida Crushed Stone proposed to build a power plant to meet the needs of its own manufacturing process:

[The power plant] would become a power source for the cement plant FCS plans to construct. Mr. Entorf testified that a power plant the size of 125 MW was necessary to achieve the desired level of steam extraction for the size of the cement plant FCS wants to construct. The power plant would produce electricity, steam, and waste heat, the latter known as flue gas. The steam and flue gas would be transferred to the cement plant and would be dry components to in the production process. Steam condensate and waste heat would be produced as a by-product of the cement production process and would be returned to the power plant to be used in the production of electricity.

<u>Id</u>. at 108-109.

Unlike Nassau, Florida Crushed Stone did not seek to build a power plant to meet the capacity needs of a utility. The size of the plant was determined by its own needs, and it sought no contract for the sale of capacity or energy to any utility. It

intended to sell its leftover, or as-available energy to Florida Power Corporation.²

The fact that the Commission determined need for the Florida Crushed Stone self-service plant in no way requires it to consider Nassau's project. The Commission determined that there was a need for Florida Crushed Stone's plant based solely on the needs of the manufacturer and the need for fuel efficiency available through the self-service cogeneration process, and specified that "the need for additional [utility] capacity is irrelevant to a determination such as this . . . " Id. at 109 - 110.

In contrast, Nassau has no need of its own to determine. Nassau's situation is not at all similar to the arrangement approved for Florida Crushed Stone by both the Commission and the Siting Board.

As long as a power plant is needed, the Siting Board must weigh the various environmental effects of the plant under the Power Plant Siting Act. Power plants cause environmental disturbance regardless of the ultimate consumer of the energy. The state must be equally concerned for the environment whether a cogenerator builds a power plant exclusively for its own use, an independent power producer builds a plant to sell capacity and energy to a utility, or a utility builds a plant with which to serve its customers. The real import of the Siting Board's decision in Florida Crushed Stone is that a cogenerator was able to

² QFs are under no obligation to sell as-available energy, but utilities are required to purchase it pursuant to tariff as it becomes available from OFs.

obtain site certification of a self-service power plant for which the Commission had determined need. The Commission has not disturbed that decision.

In contrast, Nassau seeks to build a power plant based solely on FPL's need for capacity and energy with which to serve its ratepayers. There is no conflict between the Commission's refusal to consider this free-lance need determination petition and its past review of Florida Crushed Stone's petition for determination of its own need. The Commission had no policy then, nor has it announced one now, that would prevent a cogenerator that desires to build a self-service power plant from obtaining a determination of need and site certification. Neither the Commission's order nor the decision of the Siting Board in Florida Crushed Stone requires the Commission to entertain Nassau's petition.

³Energy is electricity, while capacity is the ability to generate or the dedicated production of electricity. Cogenerators who sell energy and capacity are entitled to payment from a utility in the amount of that utility's avoided cost.

If a utility purchases energy, it avoids the cost of fuel for its own plant. If it purchases capacity, it avoids the cost of building a plant. Power plants are extremely expensive to construct, so capacity payments (the avoided cost of construction) are much higher than energy payments (the avoided fuel cost). Cogenerators who build plants to meet a utility's need must "oversize" their plants in order to provide capacity. In return, they may receive millions of dollars in capacity payments over the life of a contract.

⁴In the order under appeal dismissing the petitions for need determination and contract approval, the Commission expressly limited its decision to "proceedings wherein non-utility generators seek determinations of need based on a utility's need." Order No. PSC-92-1210-FOF-EQ at 4, R. 2971 at 2974.

C. THE COMMISSION'S DECISION IS NOT INCONSISTENT WITH THE 1990 SITING ACT AMENDMENTS.

The arguments advanced by Nassau regarding the effect of the 1990 amendments to the Siting Act do nothing to save its faulty exercise in statutory interpretation. The Legislature did change the term "utility" to "applicant" in its re-enactment of Section If anything, that change reflects a desire of the Legislature to harmonize the language of the need determination statute with that of the Siting Act definition in Section 403.503(4) where "Applicant" is defined as "any electric utility which applies for certification pursuant to the provisions of this That the term applicant was used in 403.519 in the 1990 act." amendments does not create a new class of entities which may apply for a determination of need and site certification. Section 403.503(13) still sets forth what the Legislature considers an "electric utility", and Nassau, as an independent power producer or cogenerator, is still not included.

Nassau's reliance on <u>Collins Investment Co. v. Metropolitan</u>

<u>Dade County</u>, 164 So.2d 806 (Fla. 1964) and <u>Bermudez v. Florida</u>

<u>Power & Light Co.</u>, 433 So.2d 565 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1983) is strained at best. Neither case supports the proposition advanced by Nassau that the Legislature is presumed to have known of the existence of a single unchallenged decision of an administrative agency and to have taken the agency's construction of its statute into account in re-enacting the law. Both cases involve the presumption that the Legislature knows of the judicial decisions construing a statute when it re-enacts or modifies a statute. Moreover, even if the

Legislature did know of the Commission's <u>Florida Crushed Stone</u> decision, the foregoing illustrates that the Commission's decision would not have injected the expanded definition of applicant which Nassau wants.

D. THE COMMISSION'S INTERPRETATION OF THE STATUTORY DEFINITION OF APPLICANT IS NOT CLEARLY ERRONEOUS AND MUST BE UPHELD.

The standard of review applicable to this case was set out by the Court in <u>PW Ventures v. Nichols</u>, 533 So.2d 281, 283 (Fla. 1988):

. . . [W]e note the well established principle that the contemporaneous construction of the statute by the agency charged with its enforcement and interpretation is entitled to great weight . . . (citation omitted) The Courts will not depart from such a construction unless it is clearly unauthorized or erroneous.

The agency's interpretation of its statutes will not be overturned merely because of the existence of other reasonable interpretations. <u>Pershing Industries</u>, Inc. v. Dept. of Banking and <u>Finance</u>, 591 So.2d 991 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991).

Notwithstanding its emotionally charged attack on the Commission's interpretation of the meaning of "applicant" under the Siting Act, Nassau's arguments do not approach the showing necessary to meet its burden under the applicable standard of review. See, Nassau Power Corporation v. Beard, 601 So.2d 1175 (Fla. 1992) (Court upheld Commission's interpretation of its duty under the Siting Act to determine the actual need of a utility for a cogenerator's capacity); Floridians for Responsible Utility Growth v. Beard, 621 So.2d 410 (Fla. 1993) (Court affirmed Commission's order interpreting and applying terms of Siting Act).

Nassau has been forced to resort to tortuous paths of statutory construction where a straightforward approach is all that is required. In the end, it can only ask the Court to effectively rewrite the statute, not interpret it.

II. THE "REMEDIES" SOUGHT BY NASSAU INVOKE PREVIOUSLY DISMISSED ISSUES NOT PROPERLY BEFORE THE COURT.

A. THE COURT SHOULD NOT HEAR THE ISSUE OF A COMPARATIVE NEED DETERMINATION.

In Order No. PSC-92-1210-FOF-EQ, the Commission dismissed Nassau's Petition to Determine Need in Docket No. 920769-EQ (this appeal) solely on the grounds that Nassau is not a proper applicant for a need determination proceeding under Section 403.519, Florida The order did not rule on the issue of whether or not the Commission must hold a comparative hearing to determine which of several projects is the most cost-effective, and thus the matter is not before this Court on appeal. (See, Agency For Health Care Administration v. Orlando Regional Healthcare System, Inc., 617 So.2d 385 (Fla. 1st DCA), where the court granted a motion to strike non-record material from the appendix because "[i]t is basic that an appeal asserting error on the part of a lower tribunal can only be based on evidence presented to that lower tribunal." Id. at 389.) Order No. PSC-92-1255-FOF-EQ offers Nassau no grounds to raise the comparative hearing issue in its Revised Brief, and it should be stricken.

The comparative hearing issue was, however, raised and decided adversely to Nassau in Order No. PSC-92-1355-FOF-EQ (appealed by Cypress in Case No. 81,131). Nassau chose not to file a direct

appeal of that order, and its cross-appeal was dismissed. The comparative hearing issue thus is no longer before the Court, yet Nassau continues to argue in its favor. Revised Brief at 26-34. This amounts to nothing more than an attempt to revive its cross-appeal in the Cypress case. The Court should not allow Nassau to bootstrap this issue into this case.

The comparative hearing issue was dismissed along with the Cypress case and was never involved in Nassau's direct appeal. It would be further inappropriate for the Court to address the issue under the guise urged by Nassau because the question of comparative hearings is not ripe for review.

In this case, the Commission dismissed Nassau's Petition for Determination of Need because it was not a proper applicant under the Siting Act. If this Court determines that Nassau is, indeed, a proper applicant for a determination of need, and if Nassau then pursues its petition, the Commission will be faced, for the first time, with the question whether a proper applicant is entitled to a comparative hearing. It is premature for this Court to consider the issue before the Commission has done so.

B. THE ISSUE OF SPECIAL TREATMENT FOR QUALIFYING FACILITIES IS NOT PROPERLY BEFORE THE COURT.

Like the comparative hearing issue, the issue of whether the Commission erred in refusing to order FPL to negotiate a contract with Nassau as a Qualifying Facility (QF) belongs solely in the Cypress case. Order No. PSC-92-1355-FOF-EQ at 18; R. 2412. The is nothing in the Commission's order dismissing Nassau's separate application for determination of need which addresses "Nassau

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